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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
FORT MYERS DIVISION

GAUDENCIO GARCIA-CELESTINO, )
et al.,individually and on behalf of all other )
persons similarly situated,
Plaintiffs, 2:10C 542 —MEA — DNF
Hon. Marvin E. Aspen
V.

CONSOLIDATED CITRUS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP,

A Sl R d

Defendant.
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
MARVIN E. ASPEN, District Court Judge:

Plaintiffs represent eertifiedclass of temporarii-2A Mexicanguestworkers who
pickedcitrus fruit on groves owned by Defendant Consolidated Citrus Limited Pawifmers
(“CCLP”) during either the 2007—2008 or 20@869 harvest seasongormer DefendarRuiz
HarvestingInc. (“RHI”) is a farm labor contractor, which hired and furnisRéantiffs to pick
fruit for CCLP. Plaintiffs allege that RHI violated both its employment contracts with the

harvesterSand minimum wage requirements under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FESA”).

! Pursuant to 20 C.F.R. § 655.102(b)(14) (2088)I's job clearance orders for the two relevant
seasons constituted employment contracts between RHI and the harvestensngadverterms
and conditions of their employment. (Dkt. No. 189 (Am. PTO) at 28-29 (Stipulations of Law,
Nos.12-13).)

2 Plaintiffs initially broughtclassclaims(Count VI)under the minimum wage provisions of the
Florida Constitution. Judge Chappell previously granted summary judgment irofa¥GiLP

on those claimsGarcia-Celestino v. Ruiz Harvesting, Ind0 C 542, 2013 WL 3816730, at
*15-17 (M.D. Fla. July 22, 2013)laintiffs also settled the claims asserted in Counts |
through 11l of the amended complaint. Accordingly, only the individual FLSA claims

(Count V) and the class breach of contract claims (C&)mwere tried. Id. at *4-5. As we
understand Plaintiffs’ theories, the FLSA claims stem from the failure toisuatfic reimburse

the guestworkers for premployment expenses.
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Plaintiffs contendthatRHI and CCLPwere theijoint employers andhus, that both are liable
for RHI's unlawful condict CCLP is the only remaining defendant.

A six-daybench trial addressim@CLP’s liability as an alleged joint employguring
these two harvest seasamas held inFebruary2014. The parties have since submitted their
post-hearing briefs, as well as their proposed findings of fact and conclusiams dfdér the
reasons set forth belowe find that CCLP is liable to Plaintiffs as their joint emplayer

As a resultwe find in favor of Plaintiffs on their RA contractual claims As for the
remaining claims, and as detailed below, we orderad)tional briefing on the FLSA claims;
and (2)discovery on the gaeduction claims. An evidentiary hearing on the gate deduction
claimsis hereby scheduled fdanuary 11, 2016.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)(2), we begin with a recitatioe of
factspertinent to our analysis. Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a)(2). pvifaarily rely on the parties’
Stipulation of FactssgeDkt. No. 189 Am. PTO at 20-28 Stipulationsof Fac)),® the
transcripts ofrial testimony? the parties’ exhibit§including depositionadmitted at trial)and,
where necessary, our assessment of witness credibility. We also consipartigs’ preand
posthearing briefs (including supplemental materialsjiproposed findings and conclusions,
and we bear in mind our prior evidentiary rulingSe€Dkt. No. 191(resolving motion in limine
and bifurcating discovery and trial on the gate deduction glpim large part, the critical facts

are undisputed.

3 We will not consider Stipulation No. 6, which we allowed CCLP to withdraw at trial.
(2/12/14 Tr. at 56-57.)

* Thetranscripts of witnessial testimony appeasn the docket as documents 206 through 211,
and 215.



A. CCLP’sCitrus Operations

CCLP grows citrus fruit, including various typesasnges (SeeStip. Nos. 1-2;
2/12/14Tr. (Lucas) at 57.) CCLP hasnumerougyrovesin Florida, although it has lost a
significant number ofjrovesin the lastenyearsor sa (2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 14—Zfoting a
loss of half & their totalacres)) CCLP sold some of the groves but lost others due to serious
citrus diseases, such as greening and citrus ca(lkley.

Primarily, CCLP sells its fruit to be processed into juice by other compamniels as
Tropicana. $eeStip.No. 2; 2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 57 (explaining that 90% of CCLP’s fruit is
juice oranges) Under its contracts with the processors, CCLP must produce and deliver a
certain quantity, and quality, of fruit. (2/12/ Tr. (Lucas) at-/.) The processors pay CCLP
for theorangedased on “pound solids,” a figure that accounts for both the weight tithe
delivered as well as its sweetnés@d. at9—11.) The juice processors create a schedule for
operation of their plants, and thellocate time for each growsiproduction. Id. at 11;see id.
at 47 (testifying thathte processors dictate when the plant runs and how many loads they will
accep)l.) Based on the parametest by the processQrS8CLP plans its harvesting schedule,
seeking to maximize its pound solidgd. at11-12, 47) At times, CCLP may need t@ase
harvesting due to weather or the processor’s inability to accept more frudagfat any
reason, including a problem at the plartl. 4t13.) Generally speaking, the processaryl
harvestingseason runs frotate November through the end of May early June (Id. at 8;

2/12A4 Tr. (Bartos) at 65ee als®/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 51-52.)

®> The sweetness of the oranges, or the level of fructose, is often called theofitgnt or
“brix.” (2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 10-11; 2/18/14 Tr. (Reyes) at 33-34.)
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B. The Move to H2A Labor

As the parties agree, “hasting[is] an integral part of CCLP’s business of producing
citrus fruit for processing into juice.” (Stip. No. 2; 2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) gt P8uring the 2005—
2006 season, however, CCLP was nearly unable to harvest all of its fruit due to a lalageshort
As a result, and beginning with the 2006—-2007 harvesting season, CCLP contractedatitn
contractorsincludingRHlI, to obtainmore reliabldaborfrom guestworkerghrough the H2A
visa program. (2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 24-26; 2/12/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 91-93; Stip. No. 7.)

The parties dispute whether CCLP requitieat its labor contractors recruit labor through
the H2A program. CCLP representativgsnerallytestified that contractors were meqjuired
to recruit H2A laborto hawvest the orange cropSee2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 27-30, 56-57;
2/12/14 Tr. (Bartosat91-93.) Charles Lucas and Michael Bartdsstified at trial that the
contractors approached CCLP with the idea and/or thaintiieyallyagreed to pursue the 2A
option to findsufficientlabor. See2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 26—-27; 2/12/Tr. (Bartosht 91-93.)
Bartos elaboratedhowever furthertestifying thatf the core contractors, including RHI, wanted
to continue working with CCLP in the future, they woukkd to participate in the-BA
program. (2/13/14 Tr. (Bartog} 30-33.) Gary Shelton, CCLPAYea Harvesting Manager for
Florida, testified that the contractors “were already planning on goingrk in the H2A
program” and that CCLP “didn’t force gimody.” (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 108-10 (noting that
“domestic labor had dried up}) For their partPlaintiffs point to thelepositiontestimony of
RHI's owner,Basiliso Ruiz. Ruiztestified that CCLP said that-BAA is “the way we’ll be

working.” (CCLP Tr. Ex.92 (Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep., Dkt. No. 101-13) at 8&e also idat 31) Yet

® Charles Lucas is the President/CEO of King Ranch, which manages CCLP. (2M2/14 T
(Lucas) at 34.) Michael Bartos is King Ranch’s Director of Human Resourc®4.2(14 Tr.
(Bartos) at 6364.)



Ruiz also stated th&HI entered the F2A program voluntarily, because it would be easier for
him to find workers. Ifl. at 28-31 testifyingthat the H2A programwas “beter for [him],”
even though it was more costly).)

Having considered the witness’ deposition and trial testimony, we fin€@ialP
ultimatelydecided to continugrorking with corecontractorsincluding RHI,onlyif theychose
to participate in the F2A program. Lucas and Bartos both waveaetimeson the question of
whether CCLP mandated participatibiWhile Shelton’s testimony was consistent with CCLP’s
trial position, he acknowledged that Bartos would be more familiar with the issue.1@1¥9/
(Shelton) at 110.) And Bartos testified, both in his deposition and when pressed at trial, that
entering the F2A program was a condition for working with CCLP. (24B7r. (Bartos)
at32-33.) Nonethelesthe testimony leadsauto the overall conclusion that the shortage of
reliable labor in the markétd growers and contractors alike to pursue the H-2A progr&ee, (
e.g, Stip. No. 7.) When placed in this broader context, even the inconsistencies in the witness’
testimonymake senseThus, for example, Rugtestimony that he entered the2A program
“voluntarily’—although CCLRalso indicatedhe must do so to work with it-reflects the reality
that both RHI and CCLP needlabor for their respective businessand ncsteadydomestic
labor could be found.

In addition to hiring contractors to obtain guestworkers, CCLP began directlg airth
employing H2A workers beginning with the 2007—-2008 harvest. (Stip. No. 8; 2/12/14 Tr.

(Lucas) at 3841) CCLPrecruitsappoximately B0 H-2A workers directly. (2/12/14 Tr.

" At his deposition, Lucas stated that participatmthe H-2A program was a condition of
working with CCLP. He backtracked from this pawitiat trial. 2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 27-29,
59-62.)

8 In any event, w agree with Judge Chappell’s reasoning at the summary judgment stage that
CCLP’s reliance on the 42A program has “little bearing” on its liabilityGarcia-Celesting

2013 WL 3816730, at *7.



(Lucas) at 3941.) CCLP, like other direct employers, must provide housing for a2¥ H-
workers. [d.) As aresult, CCLP is limited in the number of harvesters it can hire without
expending added caplton human resources personnel and housing uidg. Despite the
added costs, CCLP, like RHI, considers it worthwhile to participate in the H&fkagm to
ensure théruit is picked in time for processingld( at 41; Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 28-31.)

C. Recruiting H-2A Guestworkers

Prior tohiring guestworkers, a registered farm labor contrastich asRHI must obtain
state and federakrtification consistent with thid-2A temporary agricultural programSée,

e.g, CCLPTr. Exs. 24-39 (documents demonstrating the certification process for the 2008-09
harvesting seasofn)During the relevant time period, RHI relied on the Florida Fruit and
Vegetable AssociatioffFFVA”) for assistance with the certification procegRuiz 6/2/11 Dep.

at 4143 seeals02/14/14 Tr(Celaya) at 7973.)

RHI recruied guestworkers by placing ads on Mexican radio station®gmelyingon
word-of-mouth. (Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 43-45.) As described both by RuiPlandtiffs, after
potential workers were identified from their communities, thexyt Ruiz a copy of their passport
and thertraveled to Monterrey, Mexicopon his instruction. (Id. at 43-50; 2/13/14 Tr.
(P.Camacho Garcia) at 888; 2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) dt8—20, 24-29.)Typically,

the guestworkers traveled by bus to Monterrey, where they went to the HotehNexihere,

° We have closelyeviewed the deposition testimony of nineteen guestworkers in the class who
did not testify at trial.(SeeCCLP Tr. Exs. 93-94, 96-110, 112-13 & Pls.Bxs. AH
[hereinafterGuestworker Dep. Testimdry While we decline taite these numerous

depositions specifically, we find the testimony of the guestworkers teedéta and reliable.

The guestworkers consistently reported very similar details aboutébeiitment and
transportation to Florida, their work in CCLP’s groves, and the alleged violationgyimgléhis
action. Their testimony further corroborates the testimony of the threeagulkers who

testified in person at trial. We consolidate the deposition testimony fomppmsposes but

without minimizing ts value.



theymetRene Flores, RHI's agent and an attorney, who would help them complete the
necessary paperwork to obtainisav Ruiz 6/2/11Dep. at46-51; 2/13/14 Tr. (RCamacho
Garcia) at 8288; 2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) at £20;see alsdtip. No. 37; 2/14/14 Tr.
(Celaya) at 6662.) Yolanda Celaya, whose company performed bookkeeping and payroll
services for RHI, coordinated with Flores to arrange appointments at thE€EahSulate in
Monterrey forPlaintiffs.'® (2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 43—44, 60—62; Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 47—48.)
The guestworkers stayed at the Hotel Mexicano for several days while thisspronfolded.
(2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) at 2&uestworker Dep. Testimorfgtating that they waited in
Monterrey for visas anywhere from 3 to 15 days)

Once they had obtained vis&3aintiffs boarded buses arranged by Flores for the trip to
Laredo, Texasand on to Florida(Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 50-51; 2/13/14 Tr. Bamacho Garcia)
at 89-90; 2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) &8-30; Guestworker Dep. TestimonyUpon their
arrivalin Florida Ruiz picked up the workers and transported them to their housing sites.
(Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 51.) Itis undisputed that RHI provided the housirtgddrarvesters it
recruited. (2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) &3; Guestworker Dep. Testimof(tgstifying as to
their housing arrangements and, for some, that they also paid Ruiz’s wife Woedkiyd).)

The parties dispute whether RHI sufficiently reimbursed the guestvgdidether travel
expenses, as required by ldwt there is no question that each worker incusrgdificantcosts
associated withis visa application, as well dss travel to and from Florida-or example, the
workers paid a visa application fégither $100 or $131) and a $6 fee to cross the border into the
United States(Stip. Nos. 35-36.) They paid for transportation from their hometowns to

Monterrey(and backafterthe harvest), and they paid Flores $280 for his services, including fees

19 Celaya testified that RHI paid her for her services and that she used Riditscard to pay
theconsular appointment fees for the workers. (2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 86—87.)
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for the bus to Florida. R(s. Tr.Ex. 12 Hotd Mexicano/Flores Receipt2/13/14 Tr.
(P.Camacho Garcia) at 890, 113-14; 2/14/14 Tr. (Buerrero Fabian) dt9—-20, 25-31;
Guestworker Dep. TestimorlySomeworkerstestified that Ruiz demanded other sums from
them, and others notelat they paidor food along the way as well. (Guestworker Dep.
Testimony;see als®/18/14 PM Tr. (RIlsmael Estrada) &6, 11-13.

Ruiz testified that, oce the workers settled into their camps, he held a group meeting to
ask for receipts for travel reimburserhe(Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 52.) A number of the
guestworkers testified that, at this initial meeting, Raizanother RHI representativiestructed
the harvesters that if they did not pick enough fruit to meet the minimum wage, they would have
to go homeand/or return any extra wages on their paychechk&HI. (2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero
Fabian) ab-10, 15, 23; 2/18/14 PM Tr. (RmaelEstrada) aB; Guestworker Dep. Testimony.)
During those first daym Florida the workers also completékir tax paperwork and, for the
2008-09 season, set up a bank account at Bank of America to receive their pay by dirdct deposi
(Id. at 53-55; 2/1314 Tr. (Bartos) at 340; 2/13/14 Tr. (PCamacho Garcia) at 97.)

D. HarvestingAssignments

CCLP has numerougroves which are divided into blocks. The blocks range from 30 to
100 acregach (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) ab—7.) Multiple crews—between 5 and 15 crews,
with 20 to 25pickers each-from farmlaborcontractors would worHifferentparts of a block at
the same time. Id. at 6-7; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 134-36

In early fall, pior to the harvest season, CCLP’s harvesting supervisors would tour the
groves estimate the expected yields for each bjasid forward that information to Shelton,
their manger. (Stip. No. 17; 2/18/14 ANM'r. (Reyes) ab8-62.) With those estimates and

historical data, Shelton would estimate the number of workers needed for the h&A&31.4(



Tr. (Shelton) at 10436.) According to Sheltorgachcontractor would tell him how many BA
workers they could brings a logistical mattétt (Id.) He wouldtally that number of harvesters
towards his total goal and continue planning with the labor contractors until he hestisecu
enough labor. 1¢. at 105-08.)

Before the harvest beginbe harvesing supervisorsest the fruit to determine the acid
brix ratio. (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 24255 helton wouldnstruct them where to test and
would review the results to decide which blaeés optimalfor picking. (d. at 24-26, 28)
Throughout the season, each block of fruit wouldes¢ed repeatedlyp to 10 times, in an
effort to maximiz the pound solids.Id. at27; see als®/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) aB83-37)

Based on the needs of the processing plants and the readiness of the fruit, Shelton would
decidewhich block should be harvested next, agdavhich contractar (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes)
at36-37; 2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 18-21, 67-6&Stip. No. 40. The harvesting supervisor
would thentell eachindividual crewwhere to pickat least for the first day at a new groeagd
how many trailers to filper day. (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 18; 2/18/14 AM(Reyes) a7,
42-45; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 154-5%)nce the harvesters filled the allocatesmber of
trailersdesired by the processpthecrewwould be dondor the day*? (2/18/14 AMTT.

(Reyes) atl4—-47.) The supervisors conedtShelton about two days before a block would be

finished, and he wouldrepare the nexssigments (Id. at 36—37 see alsdtip. Nos. 34, 4)

1 Ruiz testified that CCLP told him how many workers RHI would need to harvesteufzarti
grove. (Ruiz 6/2/11 Dep. at 87—8&e alsaCCLP Tr. Ex.27 (2008—-2009 Estimated Work
Itinerary created by CCLP for RHI) (listing how many workers wolkdlyi be needed for nine
different groves)) This testimony does not contradict Shelton’s testimony that the contractors
informed him how many total workers they could provide each season.

12 Shelton also testified that, at times, the crews could pick as muchyasahted, depending

on the processors’ schedule, the crews’ productivity, and the weather. (2/19/1HeTon(S
at68-69.)



E. Pick and Roadside Rates
1. Total Pick and Roadside Rates

Based on their contract, CCLP paid RHbtal “pick androadside ratefor its services
based on “the net number of boxes of fruit harvested as determined by the weightwof #se fr
delivered by CCLP’s hauling contractors” to the processing plants. (Stip. N®ls18yr. Ex4
(Independent Contractor Harvesting Agmt. — H-2A, for the 2008—2009 speesemaftei08—

09 Agmt]); see alsdstip. No. 5.) In an attachment to each season’s contract, CCLP agreed to
pay RHI a minimum amounter weighted box of orangesSge08—-09 Agmt., Attach. A § 1,0
2/19/14 Tr. (Sheltonat 33—36, 70—72, 82 That ratecoveredhe piecerate wages owed to the
worker for each box picke@pick rate”), as well as RHI's operating co$teadsiderate’) .
(2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 33—36 (explaining that the roadsitd@ncludes the contraer’s profit

as well as fuglequipment cost®tc).)

For the 20072008 and®2008-2009 seassrthe total minimunprice per box promised by
CCLPwas $1.42. (0839 Agmt., Attach. A § 1.0see alsdRuiz Dep. at 19-2(PIs. Tr. Ex.3
(Independent Contraatdiarvesting Agmt— H-2A, for the 2007-2008 seasjirereinaftel07—

08 Agmt]).) At that price, CCLP assumed that RHI would pay a wage rate of $.70 pantox
agreed to increase the roadside rate by two cents if the pick rate increaseddeyts.(08—

09 Agmt., Attach. A 8§ 1.0; 2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 36-37, 119.) Although CCLP was bound to
paythatcontractual minimumhe actual pick and roadside rate paid to Rid$ considerably
higher. (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 34, 70-72, 81-82, 121-PRe) average pick and roadside rate
that CCLP paid to RHI during the 2007-2008 season was $2.03, and the average during the

2008-2009 season was $2.081. &t 121-22; 2/20/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 14%)
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The pick and roadside rataried based on the particulaoge being harvested S¢e,
e.g, Ruiz Dep. at 19-21, 67; 2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 37-45, 54-Stoytly beforebeginning
the harvest in a particular block, CCLP’s harressupervisors toedthe block to setrainitial
pick rate (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) ab5—70; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 164-58Vhen thecrew
arrived, the harvesng supervisooffereda pick rateanddiscussd that rate witltthe contractor
and/or the contractorsrew leader (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) a65—70; 2/19/14 Tr. (Bergc)
at164-66;see als®/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 41-43The supervisor then useareference chart
to show what the total pick and roadside kateild be, using the agreed-upon pick rate for that
block. (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) a67-69; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 166—67.) Additionally,
CCLP would consider raising the price at the contractor’s request if, forpdsathe workers
would not be able to make the minimum wage at a particular gfo(@18/14 AMTr. (Reyes)
at70-77; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 167-+@fut seeRuiz Dep. at 20 (stating that they did not
negotiate, but that CCL&tmply offered a higher rate if the picking was badylost (about
80%) of the time the pick and roadside rate for blocks withigrave remained the sanmtéus,
CCLP and RHI did not negotiatke rateeach morning but only when crews started new groves
or needed an adjustment. (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 43—44.) Shelton had the final say on what
total rateCCLP would pay RHI. Id. at40-41.)

2. The PickRates Paid by RHI

On the record before us, it is undisputed that CGltifatelysetthe totalpick and

roadside ratéhat itpaid RHI throughouthe relevant season3.he parties dispute, however,

whether that fact also means that CCLP determined tkegtiethat RHIpaid the harvesters.

13 Alternatively, CCLP might move the crew to another grove, where the oraogés bemore
plentiful and/oreasier to pick, resting in a higher wage to the harveste(2/19/14
Tr. (Shelton) at 54-56, 89-90.)
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CCLP points out that, as part of iesnporary labocertification applicationRHI
established the minimum rate it would pay its workers. (CEBa&tTr. Mem. at10.) Indeed, in
its job clearance orderswhich constiuted the contrastbetween RHI and the worker&HI
stated the pay rate per tub of oranges and reported that, in any event, thedsapastvould
reach the applicable federaflgquired adverse effect wage rate (‘AEWK*)(SeePls. Tr.
Exs.1-2 (Agricultural and Food Processing Clearance Grd2®©L ETA Form790) § 11.)RHI
represented that, if a harvessetotal pieceate earnings did not meet AEWR, RHI would
provide supplemental or “build-up pay” to the worked.;(see als®/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 44—
46 (explaining that the payroll system automatically adds the difference if ttkergpiece
rate wageslo not meet AEWR).

CCLP witnesses consistently testified that they had no idea what RHI ultirdatétied
to pay the hrvesters.Shelton testified that, aside from the contractual assumption that the
pickerswould earn at least $.70 per box, CGiéherallydid not know what RHpaidthe
harvesters.(2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 75-76, .88helton stated that RHI could paystraight
hourly wage or a piece ratat RHI's discretion (Id. at 76) Shelton explained that CCLP would
learn the particular pick rate on a block only if RHI complained that the workersl wotimeet
AEWR through their pieceate wages aloneld( at87-90) According to Christopher Reyes,
who was a CCLP hargéng supervisor for 18 years, one of ffeveral contraot crews he
supervised would seek an adjustment about once a week. (2/18/T4. fiRkyes) av7.) In
such a situation, Shelton was more likely to move the crew to another block rathexigbahe

rate CCLP paid RHI. 2{19/14Tr. (Shelton) at 54-56, 89—90Reyes recalled one instance

14 AEWR for the 2007—200Barvestwas $8.56 antbse t0$8.82 for the 2008—2009 season.
12



where RHI requesteslichan increasewhichCCLP granted (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) a94—
95.)

Reyedestified thahe set th@pening pick price during discussions wiitie contractor as
the harvest began at a particular location. (2/18/14TAMReyes) a66—69.) After settling on
the pick rateReyeshen showed the contractor what the total pick and roadside rate would be
based orfCCLP’s reference chartld(; seePIs.Tr. Ex. 5.) Reyes testified, however, that he did
not know what RHI actually paid the pickers. (2/18/14 AM(Reyes) aP3—-94) Charlie
Berginc, who was also a harvestsigpervisor in the relevant time period, testified similarly.
(2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 174—76Bergincfurtherexplained thatalthough the harvesting
supervisors and contractor crew leaders completed tickets in the field tthieamianges picked,
the tickets would not include the pick rate intended for the harvestdrgndting that the
tickets indicated only thital pick and roadside rate9ee als®/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 85-87.)

Ruiz, on the other hand, repeatedly stated in his deposition that CCLP—notsBtHhe
harvesters’ pick rate. (Ruiz Dep.Zit, 56, 68.) Ruiz acknowledged that CCLP did not set the
rates appearing in RHI's clearance ordeltd. gt 106-101.)

Celaya, RHI'shird-party bookkeeper, testified that Ruiz gave her the piece rate
informationto be used when preparing the harvesters’ paychecks. (2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 45.)
She statethat the vorkers might have several difference piece rates in a wékkat 65;see,

e.g, Pls.Tr. Ex. 13 (sample paystubs for Bmael Estrada, showing piece rates varying from
$1.20 to $2.00 per boxCCLPTr. Exs.75-85 (harvester pay records, includikfistory List”
reportsfrom both seasorthatshow piece ratasngingfrom $.95 to $2.00 per boX)Celaya
explained that she would receive the hours worked for leactestefrom CCLP(who owned

the timekeeping equipmeriiut would receive the number of boxes picked r@helant piece

13



rate from Ruiz. Z/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 45 She combined that information to generate RHI's
payroll, and the software program would automaticadlgibuild-up pay to a worker’s paycheck
if a worker did not meet AEWR with hgecerate wages aloneld at 44-46)

Based on our review of this testimony in the context of trial, we find that RiHéal
determinedhe harvesters’ piece ratéleither the totatate seby CCLP, nor the associated
referencechart, obligatd RHI to pay its harvesters a particular piece rMest of the time,
CCLP and RHI did not discuss the piece rate after the initial discussion inlthabiteit an
appr@riate rate for the blockThe pick rate was not included in either the field iprtickets
prepared by CCLP and Rlghch day CCLP witnesses consistently testified that they did not
know what RHI paid the harvesters. Even if RHI requested and received an adjfistraent
particular block CCLP did not know what RHI actually paid therkerscome payday.

Perhaps mst importantly, Celayaa very credible thirgbarty witness—testified that she
received the pick rate information used for the harvesters’ paychecks damdtbxclusively
from Ruiz® At that point, Ruiz could instruct Gaja to use whatever pick rate he wanted,
whether or not it matched the number previously discussed with CCLP. Although Redziistat
his deposition that CCLP set the pick rdtéhe record does not indicate whether Ruiz in fact
used the CCLP number wherstructing Celaygaeither as a general practioeat any particular
time. And Ruiz understood th&EWR requirementsincluded inhis clearance ordergere not

issuedoy CCLP. (Ruiz Dep. at 20-21, 100-101.) On the record before us, we cannot draw the

15 Celaya also received other payroll information from Ruiz, including the work@risrms.
(2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 80-81.) On a related note, the harvesters’ paystubs incliided RH
federal identification number, not CCLP’dd.(at 81.) RHI provided her with reimbursement
information for the harvesters, not CCLRd. @t 82-85.)

% We decline to reljeavily on Ruiz’s deposition testimony on this point, in padause we did
not have the opportunity to assess his demeanor as a witness at trial.
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conclusionghat the pick rate sat the fieldwas intended to become the rate that RHI paid the
pickers,ultimatelydid become their pick rate, trat CCLP required.

F. Harvestng Operationsin CCLP’s Groves

1. Arrival and Clock In

With theblock assignments and total pick and roadside rates set, the harvesters could
begintheir labor. It is undisputed that RHI decided when the harvesters would arrive to thei
assigned CCLP grove, although CCLP plainly expected therein theearlymorning. (Ruiz
Dep. at64—65; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 154; 2/18/14 PM Tr.I@ael Estrada) di4.) RHI
transported the workers to the grove on RHI vehicles. (2/14/14 Teu@rero Fabian) &3;
2/18/14 PM Tr. (RIsmael Estrada) dt4.) CCLP’ssupervisors would wait by the main entrance
to the grove for the contractors to arrive. (2/18/14 Ai(Reyes) afl0.)

During the relevant seasons, the haimgstupervisors cloetdin the workers upon their
arrival to the grove(Stip. Nos. 20-222/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) at—5, 10-16.) CCLP used its
own timekeeping equipment to track the hours worked by the contractor crews, incliding R
(Stip.No. 20.) Harvesting supervisors created identification badges for the harviestbogh
the contractor and inhouse CCLP crewhjch contained a bar code to electronically record their
entrance t@anddeparture fronmthe grove. (StipNo. 23; 2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) al1-15) To
prepare the badges, CCLP supervisors met with RHI perlsandi¢he harvesters at the
beginning of each season to gather information and take photos. (Stip, Nee249/14 Tr.
(Berginc) atl57-58 (explaining that CCLP used information about the harvesters provided by
RHI when creating the badgeg)18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) ail1-15 (describing the process and

stating that the only difference in the badges among deethe employer’'s namedge also
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2/1214 Tr. (Bartos) at3-76) CCLP gave the badges to RHI to distribute to the workers.
(2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) atl5.)
2. Citrus Canker Procedures

Prior to 2006, CCLP implemented certain procedures in an effort to prevent the spread of
the citrus canker diseae.(Stip. No. 43.)As part of that effortand particularly in the 2007—
2008 seasorharvestersvere required to walk through an ahteterial mist as they entered and
exited the grove each da¥.(Stip. No. 44; 2/1214 Tr. (Bartos) a86—87; 2/18/14 AMIT.
(Reyes) atl7, 27-33.)CCLPrequired the harvesters to dip their picking sacks into a ludrrel
decontamination solution prepared by CCLP. (Stip. No. 44; P41PY. (Bartos) a86—87;
2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) all7, 27-33.) CCLP also supervised as the contractors rinsed their
equipment, including tubs and$, with the solution. (2/18/14 AMIT (Reyes) a29—-30.) On
occasion, CCLP’s harvesting supervisors inspected RHI's vehicles “to ehatadl bf [RHI’S]
harvesters, tools, and equipment were decontaminated.” (Stip. No. 46; 2/18/14 Réyes)
at 29 (stating that he didn’t board the buses every day but did do so “every now and timen”).)
addition, under CCLP’s policy, workers could be quarantined for a day after wankamg
infected grove before beginning work again in a new grove. (Stip. Nos.;1sk€llso
2/18/14AM Tr. (Reyes) at31-33.)

CCLP’s written canker procedufer the 2007—-2008 harvest stated that the company

would have zero tolerance for any non-compliance. (Stip. NaeBB7-08Agmt. at 20 (Citrus

" Sometrial testimonyinferredthat the State of Florida designed and imposedithes canker
procedures. (2/124 Tr. (Bartos) a88.)

¥ Evidence presented at trial suggested that CCLP took ¢heker procedures more seriously
during the 2007-2008 seasorse€, e.g.2/1214 Tr. (Bartos) aB6—88; 2/18/14 AMIr. (Reyes)
at27, 31-32 (stating thavarioussteps were taken “at the beginning”Furthermore, the 08-09
Agmt. with RHI did not include a written attachment for Citrus Canker Procecagekd the
07—-08Agmt.

16



Canker Procedure, signed 8/20/07 by RuiZ)ial witnesseslid not recall any instance where
RHI or its pickers were quarantined otherwise reprimanded under the policBed2/19/14
Tr. (Shelton) at 84-85, 146tating that he was unaware of any crews that were prevented from
working based on the quarantine policy); 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 152#63testifying that he
did not recall stopping a RHI crefnom harvesting for any reasaluring the relevant seass)
2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) &9)

3. Harvesting Routineand Clock Out

Once the harvesters clocked in and walked through the cankeawhsgae, they
travelled to their assigned block and began picking oranges. RHI provided thedranmést
ladders and picking sacks for their labor. (Ruiz Dep. at 66; 2/14/14 TBu@?Prero Fabian)
at35-36.) RHI also supplied the workers with drinking waterraathtainecpbortable toiletsn
the field (Ruiz Dep. at 66; 2/19/14 Tr. (Bergire®)156-57 2/13/14 Tr. (Bartos) ab5; see also
2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 144.)

After a harvestefilled his picking sack, he dumped the oranges into a tub owned by RHI.
(2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 55ee als@®/13/14 Tr. (PCamacho Garcia) d421-22.) When a tub
wasfilled, the contractor’s crew leader dsa high lift, commonlyalled a “goat,” to unload the
tub oforanges into a fruit trailer located at the end of the.r¢g@dL2/14 Tr. (Lucas) at 49-50;
2/13/14 Tr. (PCamacho Garcia) d22.) RHI owned several goats, which were operated by its
crew leaders, such &uiz and his brothergRuiz Dep. aB-15, 63; 2/18/14 AM Tr. (Rsmael
Estrada) all13; Guestworker Dep. Testimony.) CCLP did not provide or maintain RHI's
equipment. (2/19/14/T(Berginc) atl48-49, 157.)

Throughout the day, CCLP’s harvesting supervisors @tek the variougsrews who

werespread across thousands of acr&ee?/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) aB6—98(stating that his

17



territory covered000 acres daily); 2/19/14 T(iBerginc) atLl35-36 (stating that his crews were
scattered across a twelndle radius).) On average, each supervisaasresponsible fotenor
elevencrews each day, about half of whielerecontractor crews(2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes)
at7, 81-83; 2/1A.4 Tr. (Berginc) alLl35—-36.) Everycrew included roughly twentfive
harvestersrepresenting total 0f200 to 300 workers every day per harvesting supervisor.
(2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) av, 81-83; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 135-36.) To cdker ground
the harvesting supervisors drove to each picking site, checked in for ten or fiftegdasnand
then moved on, continuing this rotation all day. (2/18/14 M Reyes) ati2, 47-48, 98—-100;
2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 133—36Reyes estimated that h#eracted with each crew
approximately 90 minutes each day in total, including clocking the workers in and out142/18/
AM Tr. (Reyes) afl07-09.)

The harvesting supervisgogerformedseveral tasks while checking in with each crew.
Theyconfirmed thathe crew was picking in the right placé€/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) ati-5,
40; see als®/13/14 Tr. (Bartos) ab3-57) Theyscanned the block for frumistakenlyleft on
trees(known as “shinerg; garbagedebris in tubs or trailers, and obvious safetydrds
2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) att1-42, 47-49; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 137-3Bor example, the
supervisors would note low power lines. (2/18/14 AM(Reyes) ab1-53 2/19/14 Tr.
(Berginc) atl39.) The supervisoreade sure that cresahad enough trailers and coordinated
with CCLP’s contracted haulers, who removel trailers and delivered them to the processing
plants. (2/18/14 AMr. (Reyes) aB7—-40; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 1.33e2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas)
at 49-50.) The supervisordso filled out trip tickets, which provided information about the
orangesthepicking crew and the total pick and roadside rate. (2/18/14 AMReyes) ai2,

47-48, 53-58; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 133, 138-39, 140-42, 160F6&2y)attached thé&ip
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tickets b the trailers headed to the plant. (2/18/14 AM(Reyes) att7—-48, 53-54.)The
supervisors might also test fruit as thp@assedhrough the groves. (2/1131 Tr. (Bartos) ab3—
54.)

When checking on a contractor crew, CCLP’s harvesting supervisorspleaifically
with the crew leaderThus, for example, if a supervisor noticed shimergarbagehe would
speak to Ruiz and/or the crew leader andRidkto rectify the situation.The harvesting
supervisors did not interact directly with RHI harvesters. (2/18/14TANReyes) ati2, 50-53
2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 137-38; 2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 15-18, 77-78; Ruiz Dep. af)71-72
By contrast, CCLP personnel wowddend a little more time with CCLP-2A crews and would
speak personally with inhouse harvesters about their productivity or staeevell asvith their
foreman (2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) afl00—03; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 146-47; 2/19/14 Tr.
(Shelton) at 76—78, 123ee, €.9g.2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 160—-65

CCLP witnessstestified as to additional differences in the treatment of contracXk H
crews and inhouse BA crews. The harvesting supervisors would check on CCLP equipment
and help handle equipment glitche&/10/14 Tr. (Berginc) at48.) Thus, for example, the
supervisor would locate a replacement ladder or arrange for a metth&xiffat tiresfor
inhouse crews, but not for RHI crewsd.] Harvesting supervisors documedanyworkplace
injuries for CCLP crews, but not for RHI crewdd.(at 151-52; 2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 164—
65; see alsdruiz Dep. at 71-75.CCLP staff might remind inhouse workers to wear their safety
goggles. (2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 163—-64 (testifying that his etigh inhouse workers daily).)
Supervisors might also get involved in personnel matters within CCLP crews, but would not
interfere with the crew assignments for RHI harveste2619(14 Tr. (Berginc) at 149-51

(explaining that he might reassign inhouse workers due to personality confliatslly, CCLP
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would inform its inhouse H-2A pickers when to return to Florida if they went home dilméng
February harvesting slowdown, butloes not instruct outside crewsether to leave arhen to
return. (2/12/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 65—66; 2/13/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 51-52.)

At the end of each workday, the crew leader contacted the harvesting sugeriasor
him know that the crewad filled their load$or the day. The harvesting supervisor would meet
eachcrew at the gate and clock out the workers, scanning their badges. (2/18/14 (Réyes)
at106; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 153-54.) That evening, the supervisors printed out a report for
each crew showing eatlarveste’s in and out times for that day and total hours worké&kee(
CCLPTr. Ex. 51 (sample payroll worksheet for a RHI créw)he following day, the harvesting
supervisoigavethat report to theontractor’'screw leader, along with the trip tickets from the
prior day. (2/18/14 AMIr. (Reyes) at18-20, 57-58, 85—-86; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc) at 143—-45
Stip. Nos. 25-26

G. Payment of Harvesters

1. Payroll Procedures

CCLP owned the timekeeping equipment used to track the hours workedRiylithe
harvesters As noted above, CCLP provided tentractors with a report summarizing each
harvester’s hours for the previous work day. In addition, C&bRiled a weeklyeport with
that same information to RHI's payroll vendor, Celaya. (2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at;45-48
Stip.No. 27.) Itis undisputed that the figures provided by CCLP for total hours wpsted
harvester reflected deduction “of up to one hour per workday . . . to account, in part, for travel

time between the gaté the grove entrance and the actual picking site(Stip. No. 28see also

19 plaintiffs challenge this “gate deduction” in this action as well. As discussegrior
opinion, we bifurcated the gate deduction claim because the parties require adtigmmeery
to fully litigate it. (Dkt. No. 191 (2/4/14 MIL Op.at5.)
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2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 167—62/12/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 84—85 (explaining that the hour
deduction included time for travel and for a lunch brgakelaya and her staffsedthe CCLP
report toenterinto thepayroll software the harvesters’ totaburs worked fothe applicablgpay
period. (d.at 4748 (stating that they did not need therkers’in/out times, just the total hours
per day).) RHI gave her the workers’ piece rate(s) andhber of boxes pickedld( at 45.)

Using that informationCelaya prepareithe payoll and paystubs for the workerBuring that
process,he software program automatically added buitdpay to a worker’s paycheeks
needed to reach AEWR(d. at 53.)

When the payroll was completgelayasent a file back t&€CLP with the gross and net
payroll for each harvesterld( at 51-52;see alsdtip. No. 32. She also sent CCLP the
Attestation Agreement signed in her presence by R@iA4(14 Tr. (Celayaat 95; see also
CCLPTr. Ex. 6 (Attestation Agmt. for week ending 3/30/08).) By his signature, and pursuant to
RHI's agreementsvith CCLP, Ruiz certified that the workers had been paid AEWR and that
RHI had otherwise complied with its contractual obligations. (CTLIEX. 6.)

RHI paid the harvesters by check for the 280008 season. (Stip. No. 293 CCLP’s
instruction RHI switched to direct deposit for the 2008—-2009 season. (Stip. No. 30; 2/12/14 Tr.
(Bartos) at39—-40;see als®/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 90; Ruiz Dep. at 58-testifying that CCLP
decided to proceed with direct deposit and Ruiz chose the bank).) Either way, the paystubs
indicatedthe harvesters’ hours worked, applicable piece rate(s), boxes picked at epahdat
any build-up pay. Thentry representobuild-uppaywas readily identifiable on the stub and
included the total amount added to meet AEWR for that pay period. (Pls. Tr. Ex. 13; 2/14/14 Tr.

(Celaya) ab3-60.) Celaya gave RHI the paychecks amgaystubs, and RHI distributed them
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to the harvesters on payday. (2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 89-90; 2/13/14 CanlAcho Garcia)
at96-97; 2/14/14 Tr. (FGuerrero Fabian) &6-37.)

In addition to receiving the final payroll from Celaya, and the Attestationehgeat
signed by Ruiz, CCLP conducted random audits of RHI's recordkeeping. (Stip. Nos.)33-34
Ismael DelgadoKing Ranch’s Safety Environmental Loss Control and Labor Relations
Manager, would visit Celaya’s office to spot ch&iKI’'s employment records(2/13/14 Tr.
(Delgado) atLl32, 137-42 (explaining this process, which he did for all labor contractors).)
Delgado would compare the final payroll report sent by Celaya with the reodfasoffice, to
make sure there were no discrepanciés. at 137-39.) He wouldheck 9 documentation and
would verify that the hours reflected in the weekly payroll report matched the lecorded by
CCLP’s timekeping equipment. (Stip. No. 34; 2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at)1B&lgado also
reviewed records of reimbursements paid to the workers forttaeel expenses from Mexico.
(2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 139-42.) In doing so, Delgado checked to see if RHI paid any
reimbursementbuthedid not investigate whether the amount was corrddt; ee also
Stip. Nos.38-39)

In conducting these audits, CCLP intended to ensure RHI's compliance with thei
agreements, which required RHI to properly pay its workdds.a({ 14546, 155-57
Stip.No. 33, see alscCCLP Tr. Exs7, 12 (Contractor Payroll Audit Reports, generated by
Delgado tacheck that RHI was paying AEWR

2. Alleged Kickbacks

Among other thingsRlaintiffs allege in this lawsuthat RHI required the class members

to regularlyreturn some of their pay, resultingwages that failed to satisP AEWR. RHI

guestwakersuniformly testified that RHI personnel demanded that they give back any build-up
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pay included in their weekly wages. (2/13/14 Tr.@Bmacho Garcia) at 9802; 2/14/14 Tr.
(P.Guerrero Fabian) dt1-16, 22 2/18/14 AM Tr. (R.Ismael Estrada) dt17-21; 2/18/14 PM

Tr. (R.1smael Estrada) &-5; Guestworker Dep. Testimony.) Numerous harvesters stated that
Ruiz (or another RHI representative) told them that the build-up pay came out af fugket

and, if they did not return it, he would send them home. (2/14/14 Te&ugtrero Fabian) &—

10, 15; 2/18/14 PM Tr. (Rsmael Estrada) & Guestworker Dep. Testimony.)

Typically, on paydayRHI’s crew leaders drove the harvesters to the bank, where they
withdrew their wages. As the workeesboarded theehicle, the crew leader consulted a list
and collected cash from the workers, representing their build-up pay for tHaasvieelicated
on their paystubs. (2/13/14 Tr. @amacho Garcia) at 9802; 2/14/14 Tr. (FGuerrero Fabian)
at9-10, 15; 2/18/14 PM Tr. (Rsmael Estrada) &, 19; Guestworker Dep. Testimonylhe
amount varied, along with the amount of build-up neguday periodand workers were not
required to return any wages if they satisfied AEWR based on their own picking and
productivity. (2/13/14 Tr. (RCamacho Garcia) di01-03; 2/14/14 Tr. (Rsuerrero Fabian)
at14-15; 2/18/14 AM Tr. (Rsmael Estrada) dt18; Guestworker Dep. Testimonyt) light of
the guestworkers’ similacredible,and corroborating testimony, we have no doubt that RHI
took advantage of the harvestarslwrongfully required them to return their build-up pay.

Whether CCLP can be held liable for RHI's misconduct as a joint employer of the
harvesters is, of course, the quesfioesented The parties have stipulated thmett one from
CCLP demanded that the harvesters return these wages. (Stip. No. 47.) It ishdiiputed

thatno Plaintiff or class member complained to CCLP about RHI’s kickback requiréfhent.

20 Although CCLP had received notice of other kickbali&gations, RHI was neither implicated
at that timenor investigated. In response to those claims, however, CCLP required its
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(Stip.No. 48.) In fact, several of the guestworkers testified that they did not knowragythi
about CCLP and considered only RHI employees to be their superviSeeGuestworker Dep.
Testimony;2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) &3, 39; 2/18/14 AM Tr. (Rsmael Estrada)
at13-14, 21.)

H. Contractual Rights and Obligations

In addition to the above-mentioned payroll reporting and audit procedures, RHI’'s
contract with CCLP imposed other requiremerRs$il was obligated to provide “payroll
registers showing the payment ofrtsportation, subsistence and visa reimbursements” to the
harvesters. (Stip. No. 38.) CCLP required RHI to submit a spreadsheet to Delgafiorigent
the categories of fees and expenses included in those travel reimbursementblo (3§, see
2/13/14Tr. (Delgado) al39-42; 2/13/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 2324

RHI alsosubmited anothemattestatiorto CCLP, in addition to the Attestation Agreement
submitted each pgyeriod CCLP’scontractoragreements includedMigrant Housing
Attestation by which RHacknowledged itseparatdéegal obligations to provide housing for the
harvesters and to ensure that the housing met certain standards. AQmt0&t 18& 08—
09 Agmt. at 19(Migrant Housing Attestatia) signed by RuizR/13/14 Tr. (Bartos) at8-19.)
RHI agreed to give CCLP copies of its farm labor contractor licensesamdentioned earlier,
payroll+elated documentation(2/1344 Tr. (Bartos) aR1; 07—-08Agmt. 8§ 11.2 see, e,g.
CCLPTr. Ex. 35 (CCLP file with RHI farm labor certification neatals)) RHI also provided
documentation evidencing its training of the workers on safety procedures. 142113/
(Delgado) atl51-52;see, e.g.Pls. Tr. Ex.6 & CCLP Tr.Ex. 50 (sample Harvest Registration

Forms, signed by Ruiz, certifying thatgarticular worker received pesticide safety traifing

contractors to include a notice with each paystub that the worker was enotikieeptall wages.
(2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 146-47; 2/138/Tr. (Bartos) aB5—-36 see07—-08 Agmt. § 11.9.)
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Under the contractor agreements, RHI was responsible for maintainingnitsabity,
workers’ compensation, and automobile insurance covel@je08 Agmt. § 12; 08—-09
Agmt. § 12; 2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 133—36.) RHI was further obligated to include CCLP on
its policies as an additional insured. (07—08 Agmt. § 12.3; 08-09 Agmt. § 12.3; 2/13/14 Tr.
(Bartos) atl6—-18.) At the beginning of each season, Delgado gathered all of the contractors’
insuance and safety inspectidncumentation. (2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 133}3% would
confirm the insurance coverage and prepare a list for the harvesting sugest/mslb contractor
vehicles authorized to enter CCLP propertig.)(As vehicles entedthe grove, harvesting
supervisors consulted the list to make sure that the vehicle could protokext. 18537,

2/18/14 AMTr. (Reyes) aR0-25 (stating that the supervisors would also check the drivers’
credentials) CCLP policy dictated thaontractorvehicles would be turned away if the
insurance had lapsed, thougtinesseslid not recall that situation arising2/13/14 Tr.
(Delgado) atl35—-36, 153-54; 2/18/14 ANI. (Reyes) aR4-27, 87.)

Delgado conducted random audits of the contractors’ buses and field conalétiaes.
(2/13/14 Tr. (Delgado) at 137, 142—-44.) Delgado inspected each vehicle, inside and out, prior to
the harvest season; once complete, he attached a sticker numberfarnest supervisors to
reference during their morning check$d. @t 142—-44.) When checking a job site, Delgado
checked for toilets, hand washing facilities, and potable waligrat(144 (testifying that he
informed the contractor of any deficiees).)

In the relevant contracts, CCLP reserved the right to halt the harvesbeksfor any
reasor—whether due tpoor weather, lapsed insurance, refusal of the processing plants to accept
more loads, or a crew’s performand@7-08 Agmt. 8§ 25.3; 08—09 Agmt. § 25.3 (providing that

CCLP may “stop or delajv] ork whenever . . . such stoppageesessary’)2/13/14 Tr.
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(Bartos) atl4—-15) CCLP representatives testified that they did, in fact, halt picking
occasionallyunder such circumstances. (2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 120-21; 2/19/14 Tr. (Berginc)
at169-71.) For its part RHI retained the right under the agreements to work for other growers,
in addition toCCLP. (2/20/14 Tr. (Bartos) at 22.)

LEGAL ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS

With these facts in mind, we turn to tlegalframeworkand themerits of Plaintiffs’
case.We firstaddres<CCLP’sRule 702 and Rule 52 motionaised atrial. We then outline the
governing lanandundertake the joint employmeanalysis as set ftrin Aimable v. Long &
Scott Farms20 F.3d 434 (11th Cir. 1994).

A. CCLP’s Motion to Exclude Plaintiffs’ Damages Expert

At trial, CCLP objected to the testimony of Plaintiffs’ damages expert, Brittamgntq
andrelatedexhibits (2/18/14 PMTr. (Amento) at36—37, 42-50.) In her testimony, Amento
described how she calculated Plaintiffs’ damages, including build-up pay and amoudtsrbase
preemployment expenses allegedly owed to each guestwdrkt. at 25-36.) Essentially,
Amento programmetixcel spreadsheets to calculate the darsagel relied otimekeeping and
payroll recordgor her data (Id.) For her analysis of the build-up pay claims €ompared the
harvesters’ actual hourly rate based on their records (minugciktiEmkk amount) to AEWR.

(Id. at 26-31, 34, 36.) When inputting the data, Amento did not round the numbers or conduct
any investigatia into the underlying recordsld( at 36, 38, 42.)
As for thepre-employmenteimbursement claims, Amento took information from the

payroll records that indicated whetlteeguestworker received a check poe-employment

2L Amento also calculated damages for the gate deduction claims, which weratbifu/s
discussed at trial, we review only the damage calculations prepared by Aorahi® huild-up
payand preemployment traveleimbursement claims, as the gate deduction claims remain
pending.
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expensesand for how much.ld. at28.) Plaintiffs’ counsel provided Amento withe

Hotel Mexicano receipt(Pls.Tr. Ex. 12), to documenthe harvestergdre-employmenexpenss,
which Amentorelied onfor herdamages calculationgld. at 31-32, 38see also idat 46, 48
On crossexamination, Amento testified that stensidereanyinitial reimbursementheck
issued to the guestworkers but did not factor in any subsequent reimbursedeats39( 41)
Amento also acknowledged that shd not calculate whether Plaintiffs’ wages satisfied the
federal minimum wage, as pertinent to thisSA claim. (Id. at 51.)

CCLP did not dispute Amente®'qualifications as an expert or the mathematical accuracy
of herwork. CCLP, howevenaised several specific objections to balculations and
testimonyunder Rule 702(b), based on the assumptions underlying her conclusions. Under
Rule 702, we may exercise our discretion to exclude the testimony of erpcoéixpert if the
testimony is unreliable or if it is not helpful to the trier of faRbsenfeld v. Oceania Cruises,
Inc., 682 F.3d 1320, 1328-29 (11th Cir. 20lR)rmanite Am., Inc. v. T.D. Williamson, In606
F. Supp. 2d 1126, 1129-30 (M.D. Fla. 20@8e Health & Sun Research, Inc. v. Australian
Gold, LLC 12 C 2319, 2013 WL 6086457, at *1-2 (M.D. Fla. Nov. 19, 20Hg&xe, where
CCLP challenges a deges expert, we bear in mind that “proof [of damages] may be indirect
and it may include estimates based on assumptions, so long as the assumptionslegsiab® a
grounds.” Platypus Wear, Inc. v. Clarke Modet & C66 C20976, 2008 WI8961521, at *4
(S.D. Fla. Oct. 10, 2008) (quotihghrman v. Gulf Oil Corp.500 F.2d 659, 668 (5th Cir.
1974));see, e.qg.Britt Green Trucking, Inc. v. FedEx Nat'l, LTL, In@9 C 445, 2014
WL 2861485, at *3 (M.D. Fla. June 24, 2014). For the reasons set forth bedaeny CCLP’s
motion to strike Amento’s testimony and related exhibits, although we also &hthdy may

not ultimately prove Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims.
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1. Testimonyabout H2A Build-Up Wages

CCLP objected to Amento’s testimony as to the amount of build-up back pay on several
grounds. First, based on the testimony of Porfirio Camacho Garcia, CCLHE #rguamount of
build-up pay collected by RHI personnel was unknown to the extent that it differadife
amount reported on the guestworkers’ paystuBCLPemphasizethat Camacho Garcia
recalled returning more than $200 of build-up pay on one occasion, although his paystubs did not
reflect any week in which his build-up pay was that high. (2/18/14PNAmento) at39—41.)

As Amento concedecatither Camacho Garcia’s testimony was wrong, or the payroll records
werewrong, (id. at 41), butwe consider it far more likely that Camacho Gascmémoryfailed

him. We have no reason to believe that the payroll records included errors. Morenthponta
light of the significant amount of consistent testimony from the guestwaoketss point, we

have no reason to belietteatRHI personnel collected build-up pthatregularlydiffered in any
material way from the amounitsdicated on théarvesterspaystubs.(Guestworker Dep.
Testimony 2/13/14 Tr. (PCamacho Garcia) at 9802; 2/18/14 AM Tr. (Rlsmael Estrada)
at118-21.) We reasonably infefrom the weight of the credible testimony from the workers
that RHIon a weekly basigiemanded the return of the build-up pay amounts, rather than some
other unknown sums.

CCLP’s second objection to Amento’s calculatiorcontractuadamages attacks its
precision. CCLP rightly poied out that harvestetsstified that RHI prsonnel did not collect
coins when demanding the kickbackSe€2/18/14 PMTr. (Amento) a¥d4.) Thus, if the
harvester’'s paystuteportedan amount for build-up pay that included change, RHI did not
demand the change but rounded off the amount. (2/13/14 Ta(Racho Garcia) at 127;

2/14/14 Tr. (PGuerrero Fabian) at 22/18/14 AM Tr. (R.Ismael Estrada) d9.) CCLP argued
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that, as a result, thectualkickback amounts are unknown and Amento’s calculations relying on
the paystub information is inaccurate. (2/18/14 RM(Amento) a¥d4—-45) Again, we disagree.
The practice of rounding these amounts up and down certainly affects the pnecigd of
damages when calculatibg the penny, but does not affect the overall validity of Amento’s
methodology or conclusions based on the exact figures included on the paystubs. Some
kickbackamounts were rounded up, some were rounded datall-eomes outn the wash.

We find that the damage calculations on the whole are reliable, even if pogenéietiurate

(either as overages or undergdaginconsequential amounts.

CCLP’s objections to Amento’s calculations as to build-up pay address the welgint of
testimony rather than its admissibility. We find that Amento’s calculaasrise build-up pagre
admissible, as well agery credible. Amento reviewed the extensive payroll recardspared
actual wages to AEWR'’s requiremerdad comped spreadseets that are helpful to usour
assessment of Plaintiffdamages.For these reasons, we deny CCLP’s motion and credit
Amento’s testimony on this point.

2. TestimonyaboutFLSA Pre-Employment Expense Reimbursement

For similar reasonsve find thatAmento’s work calculating amounts allegyedwed to
the guestworkers for the pegaployment expenseésadmissible.Based orCCLP’s objections,
however, we cannot givdmento’s conclusions much weight at this juncture.

In its first objection, CCLP conterd that Amento’s calculations could not be accurate
because the guestworkers themselves often could not recall the spéddHieis preemployment
expenses(2/18/14 PMTr. (Amento) a44.) Indeedmany ofthe harvestersould not testify
exactly how nany days they stayed in Monterrey awaiting a visa or how much their expenses

totaled for their journeys.See, e.g.Guestworker Dep. Testimony.) This factual gap would
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indeed undermine the reliability of Amento’s calculations. In rebuttal, howelaentiffs’

counsel clarified that they are not seeking reimbursement for hotel or owallameous

expenses but are seeking exclusively the expenses documented by the HoteldMexEiah
(2/18/14 PMTr. (Amento) a6 48.) That receipt includesosts for three itemdotaling $280

the services of Rene Flores, the bus transportation to Florida, and the visa fee of $100.

(Pls.Tr. Ex. 12.) The record suggests that all guestworkers incurred these expenses to work for
RHI, and CCLP has not arguetherwise. (SeeGuestworker Dep. Testimony.) Accordingly, to

the extent that Amento used the $280 figure forfatlev calculations, we may be ablerédy on
hertestimony

CCLP’ssecondobjection to these calculations is more substant€LParguel that
Amento’s calculations are not credible because they did not include any additiona
reimbursement checks issued to the workers later in the harvesting sea$8/.4 RMTr.

(Amento) at39, 41, 43—-44.)The record reveals that some workers were issued second checks

for reimbursement of premployment expense$2/14/14 Tr. (Celaya) at 68—70.) Amento

admitted that she did not include any subsequent reimbursement checks in her work but that her
total damages figures would be affected if she had don€2/18/14 PMr. (Amento) at39,

41.)

CCLP’s third objection also has meri€CLP contended that Amento’s findings are also
not worthy of credence because she did not check whether Plaintiffs’ veaigéied the federal
minimum wage. Amento conded that she did not run calculations comparing the hourly wages
of the guestworkers to the pertinent FLSA minimum wage. (2/18/1FRP{Amento) at1.)
Analysis ofPlaintiffs’ FLSA claim for preemployment expensésvolves at least in parg

comparison of actual wages paid in the first workweek to the FLSA minin8ga.Arriaga v.
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Fla. Pac. Farms, L.L.C305 F.3d 1228, 1241-45 (11th Cir. 2002¢jour v. Steven Davis
Farms, LLC 28 F. Supp. 2d 1216, 1232—-33 (N.D. Fla. 20%d¥ also Ramos-Barrientos v.
Bland 728 F. Supp. 2d 1360, 1377-78 (S.D. Ga. 2010) (describing the formula used to assess
satisfaction of the FLSA'’s requirement that the employer pay not only thenammwage but
also “any expenses the employee incurs for the benefit of the employer,” mgcteadrel and
visa expenses)“Where an employee’s pay for the first workweek is less than the FLSA required
minimum wage per hour plus qualifying peeiployment expenses, the employer violates the
FLSA.” Ramos-Barrientqs/28 F. Supp. 2d at 1378e Sejoyr28 F. Supp. 2d at 1232-33;
OjedaSanchez v. Bland Farms, LL.G8 C 96, 2010 WL 3282984, at *8-9 (S.D. Ga.
Aug. 18, 2010).Here, it appears that Amento’s calculations compare harvestengsato the
AEWR rate, not the FLSA rate.

Because of these shortcomings, we cannot at this time accept Amentoismorecivith
respect@ damages for the pesnployment expensedVe ask the parties to submit further
briefing on thisssue however. Rintiffs shall submit a briefio later han July 31, 2015In
their supplementdirief, Plaintiff must confirm that Amento’s calculations are based on damages
for only the $280 documented in the Hotel Mexicano receipt and must discuss, based on record
evidencewhichworkers paid these expensd3daintiffs shall also address the impact of
Amento’s failure to include subsequeaimbursemeinchecks in her damages amounts. Finally,
Plaintiffs shall explain how the FLSA reimbursement requirement is intended ko vaar
Amento calculated these damagas] how Amento’s failure to use the FLSA minimum wage
affects the value dfer conclusions, if at all.

CCLP may file a response brief no later thargust 31, 2015and Plaintiffs may file a

reply if they choose on or byetember4, 2015.We will entertain the possibility of hearing
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oral argument on these issues, if the pali@d®eve that such argumenbuld be helpful
following briefing.

B. CCLP’s Rule52 Motion

At the close of Plaintiffs’ case, CCLP mal#r judgment under Rule 52(c) on several
points. Plaintiffs conceded two arguments raiseddg}L.P. Consistent with those concessions,
we granted the motion astive FLSAclaims of thirteemamed plaintiffé? based on the 2007—
2008 harvest season, which fell outside the applicableye@ostatute of limitationsWe also
granted the motion as to all claims for the 2009-2010 seabich Plaintiffshaddecidednot to
pursueprior to trial (Dkt. No. 189 (Am. PTO) at 2 n.2At trial, we took CCLP’s remaining
arguments under advisement, and we briefly address them®now.

In its oral motion, CCLP contended that none of the named plaintiffs asserting individual
claimsunder the FLS/ased orthe 2008—2009 harvest seasamloffered sufficient proof?

Specifically, CCLPfirst assertedhat twelve of those plaintiffisad not been deposed or testified,

22 As identified by CCLP, the named Plaintiffsth 2007—208 FLSA claims at issuege:

(1) Rodolfo Caballerd?alacio; (2)Porfirio Camachdsarcia; (3)Emanuel Camachhbinares;

(4) Raymundo Cruz-Vicencio; (33aul Ismael Estrad&abriel; (6)J. CarmenGonzalez
Caballero; (7YJuvenal Gonzale2uarez; (8Antonio Matinez (9) Procoro MartineZAguilar;
(10) Ramon Ruiz-Landeros; (1Rplemon Sanchdduerta; (12) Miguel Sanchdderales;and
(13) Luis VegaCamacho.(See alsdkt. No. 34 (Am. Compl.) 1 80.)

23 In light of our ruling today, we need not address CCLP’s Rule 52 argument thaltitnot be
liable to Plaintiffs’ for the alleged +2A violations for the 2007—-2008 and 2008-2009 seasons as
joint employer because it was not a signatory to tf#AHontracts with the harvesterBoth the
law and the facts support our conclusion tB@LPis liable as a joint employer

24 The amended complaint did not raise class claims under the FIC®mpéareDkt. No. 34
(Am. Compl.) 1 88 (raising class claims for breach of contwaitt)J 79 (raising claims only as
to the Isted named plaintiffs in Count IV).) Indeed, the class was previously eeriifth
respect to the breach of contract claims, but not the FLSA clées.GarciaCelestino v. Ruiz
Harvesting, Inc.280 F.R.D. 640, 644 (M.D. Fla. 2012) (certifying thassl as to the contract
claims, per Plaintiffs’ request)The class also covered claims under Count VI, which is no
longer at issue.
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resulting in a total lack of evidence in support of their cl&im&CLP argued that the record
contains no evidence that these individuals were denied reimbursegsiitisg in wages Ht
violated the FLSA. In response, Plaintiffs pointed out, quite rightly, that proof of ¢leeses
does not require witness testimony if the elements of the claim can be provtebgvidence
in the record.Plaintiffs then argued that the payroll records admitted at trial offer sufficien
evidence for them to prevail.

Relatedly CCLP nextargued that angemaining 20082009 named plaintiffsas
identified in paragraph 81 of the amended compléared to substantiate their damagss
necessary to succewdth their FLSA claims Relying on their Rule 702 argumen@CLP
contendedhat thesd-LSA plaintiffs could not rely odimento’stestimonybecause sheid not
calculatethe damages for these claims using the FLSA minimum wa&j&8/14 PMTr.
(Amento) at51.)

As previously discussed,enagree with CCLP that there are concerns with Amento’s
damages calculations as to the-pmeployment expense® be addressed in the parties’
supplemental briefingln thatbriefing, theparties shall alsodalressvhether the record includes
sufficient evidencgfrom payroll records or otherwisgemonstrating that the twelve ron
testifying FLSA plaintiffs(identified in footnote 2bdid not receive reimbursements for the
claimed preemployment expensedn the meantimeCCLP’s Rule 52 motiois granted in pajt

as stated at triphndis otherwiseentered and continued.

2 As identified by CCLP, the named Plaintiffs with 2008—2009 FLSA claims who did noy testif
in anyway are: (1Miguel Agular-Guerrero; (2fFelipe AngelesGallardo; (3) Rodolfo
CaballerePalacio; (4 Raymundo Cruz/icencio; (5)Gaudencio Garci€elestino; (6)J. Carmen
GonzalezCaballero; (7Juvenal Gonzale2uarez; (8Alfredo MoraMartinez; (9)Juaquin
ResendizAlvares; (L0) Martin RuizOlanderos; (11Reynaldo Sanchetbarra; and (12)uis
VegaCamacho. $ee alsdkt. No. 34 (Am. Compl.) 1 81.)
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C. Legal Standards$or Liability and Analysis

As Judge Chappell thoroughtiescribedn her summary judgment opinioBCLP’s
status as pint employer is a question of lamimed at resolving whethamder all the
circumstanceghe worker is dependent on the putative emplagean economic reality
Garcia-Celesting 2013 WL 3816730, at *See alsdsoldberg v. Whitaker House Coop., Inc.
366 U.S. 28, 33, 81 S. Ct. 933, 936—37 (198h)enor v. D&S Farms38 F.3d 925, 929-30
(11th Cir. 1996)Aimable 20 F.3d at 439In Aimable the Eleventh Circuit set out an eight-
factor testo analyzgoint employer claims under the FLSA. 20 F.3d at 439sdBt ayton v.
DHL Express (USA), Inc686 F.3d 1172, 1177 (11th Cir. 2012)tenor 88 F.3d at 932. This
Aimablefactor testapplies with equal force Plaintiffs’ FLSAclaimsandcontract clains under
the H2A regulations’® Garcia-Celesting 2013 WL 3816730, at *&iting cass);, see Sejour
28 F. Supp. 3at 1226—-27“The Courts have held that the definition efrfploy under the
H—2A regulations is similar to the definition provided by FHeSA.") ; Guijosa-Silva vWendell
Roberson Farms, Inc10 C 17, 2012 WL 860394, at *19 (M.D. Ga. Mar. 13, 2012).

Beforeassessing the merits of Plaintiffs’ joint employer thaamgerAimable we review
several guiding principles. “First, the question . . . is not whether the workeras mor
economically dependent on the independent contractor or the grower, with the winner avoiding
responsibility as an employerAntenor 88 F.3d at 932see Layton686 F.3d at 1177Rather,
we must focus our inquiry “‘on each employment relationsisift exists between the worker
and the party asserted to be a joint employetntenor 88 F.3d at 932 (quoting.R. Rep.

No. 97-885, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. (1982efrinted in1982 U.S.C.C.A.N. 4547, 4552).

26 \We decline the partie@vitationsto revisit Judge Chappell’s rulings on the applicable legal
framework. See, e.g.Pls. Posffr. Mem.at 3 n.4; CCLP Poskr. Mem. at1l5.) Based on our
independent review of the legal landscape, we agree with Judge Chappell’s geasdnin
continue to rely on thAimablefactors to evaluate the remaining FLSA and contractual claims.
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Second, and as noted earlier, the analysis takes account of all relevantteincesissuch that
“no one factor is determinative Antenor 88 F.3d at 932Aimable 20 F.3d at 43%eelLayton
686 F.3d at 1177. Third, we consider Aimablefactors “because they are indicators of
economic dependentand thus are tools to help ugalge the degree of dependence of alleged
employees Antenor 88 F.3d at 932Within the context of the case, “the weight of each factor
depends on the light it sheds on the farmworkers’ economic dependence (or lack tretieef)
alleged employer.d.; seeLayton 686 F.3d at 1177. Fourth, wecognizethat “[t]he joint
employment relationshiis not determined by a mathematical formulAritenor 88 F.3d at
932. As we consider each factor, we need not “place each in either the contractgrowdrés
column” but instead we “view them qualitatively to assess the evidersmodmic
dependence, which may point to bothd’ at 933 seeLayton 686 F.3d at 117& harles v.
Burton, 169 F.3d 1322, 1333-34 (11th Cir. 199%¢jout 28 F. Supp. 3d. at 1227.

In addition “we must not allow common-law concepts of employment tivatisour
focus from economic dependency&htenor 88 F.3d at 933;ayton 686 F.3d at 1178The
relevant “suffer or permit to work” standard—included in the FLSA and adopted by2iAe H
regulationsapplicablefor the harveshg seasons at issue heréwas developed to assign
responsibility to businesses that did not directly supervise putative employedsrior 88
F.3d at 933 (citindrutherford Food Corp. v. McComB31 U.S. 722, 728 & n.7, 67 S. Ct. 1473,
1476 & n.7 (1947).)Finally, we recogniz¢hat the FLSA is a remedial stataed must be

construed broadlyAntenor 88 F.3d at 933.
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1. Aimable Analysis

With those principles in mind, we turn to review and apply each of the/A&iglaible
factors to the facts of this cas@é/e will thenweighthe factors collectively and qualitatively.
See Antenor88 F.3d at 933.

a. Nature and Degree of Control of the Harvesters

In this first factor, we focus on CCLP’s control of the harvesters’ work. A8ithable
court explained, “[c]ontrol arises . . . when the farmer goes beyond general iosgustich as
how many acres to pick in a given day, and begins to assign specific tasks,nspssific
workers, or to take an overly active role in the oversighlhhefvork.” 20 F.3d at 441. A grower
may play such ahoverly active role’if it makes decisiossuch as(1) for whom and how
many employees to hire; (Bpw to design the employees’ management structuresn@h the
work day begins; (4) when the laborers shall start and stop their work throughout taadiay;
(5) whether a laborer should be disciplined or retainééyton 686 F.3d at 117&ntenor 88
F.3d at 933see also Tafalla v. All Florida Dialysis Servs., @7 C 80396, 2009 WL 151159,
at*6 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 21, 2009).

Here,although CCLP required RHI to participate in the H-2A program, it did not demand
that RHI hire specific individuals and did rtitectRHI’s hiring process RHI alone chose who
to hire, how to hireand how many total employees to recruit from Mexitoaddition, CCLP
played no role in RHI's internal organization and operation. CCLP did not assign RHI
harvesters to specific RHI crews, nor was it involved in the training, disejmr retentionfo
the workers. CCLP also did not decide when each crew began their day, took bréaisteat

their work.
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CCLPplainly expected the harvesters to begin picking citrus early in the dag and
continue working until they had filled the appropriate bemof trailers. CCLP also assigned
RHI particular blocks.On the whole, however, we find that this factor weighs against finding
that CCLPwasPlaintiffs’ joint employer.

b. Degree of Supervision, Direct or Indirect,
of the Harvesters’ Work

This second factor assesses CCLP’s oversight of the harvesters’ workrviSiopean
be present regardless of whether orders are communicated directly tedled amployee or
indirectly through the contractor.layton 686 F.3d at 1178—7%ntenot 88 F.3d at 934;
Aimable 20 F.3d at 441. In an agricultural setting, a “grower is not expected to look over the
shoulder of each farmworker every hour of every dantenor 88 F.3d at 935. Nonetheless,
“1 nfrequent assertions of minimal oversight do not constitute the requisite degree of
supervision’ to satisfy this factor.ayton 686 F.3d at 1179 (quotingartinez-Mendoza v.
Champion Int’l Corp. 340 F.3d 1200, 1211 (11th Cir. 2003))mable 20 F.3d at 441.

As Judge Chappell alsmggestedt the summary judgment stage, we conclude that
CCLP supervised the harvesters in substantial wage, e,gGarcia-Celesting 2013 WL
3816730, at *9. CCLP assigned RHI to particular blocks, advised how many workers would be
needed for each block, and clocked the workers in and out on a daily basis.h&@@&sing
supervisors checked in on each RHI crew roughly eight times each day, for feeto fi
minutes During those visits, and in addition to fillingtdup tickets,CCLP supervisors
checked for shiners, garbage, debrituios or trailersandapparent safety hazard€CLP
personnehlsochecked for toilets, hand washing facilities, and potable wé26r3/14 Tr.
(Delgado) atl37, 142—-44.)CCLP personnel would address amgfated problemwith RHI

supervisors, pointing out shiners, low power lines, etc.
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CCLP supervisors also ensured that RHI personnel and harvesters complied with its
citrus canker procedures, particularly in the 2007—20088taiseasonlt directedthe harvesters
to walk through an anti-bacterial mist upon entering and exiting the groves. 1@quired the
harvesters to dip their picking sacks into a barrel of decontamination solution, @@idh
prepared.CCLP directly supervised RHI personnel as they rinsed equipment, including tubs and
goats. OccasionallyCCLP also inspected RHI's vehicles to verify that the “harvesters, tools,
and equipment were decontaminated.” (Stip. No. 46.) CCLP reserved the right to quarantine
any worker for a day after working in an infected graxeen ifwitnesses did not recall any
guarantine taking place.

Baseal on the recordacts, we conclude that this facgironglysupportsPlaintiffs’ joint
employer theory It is irrelevant thaCCLP supervisors did not speak directly to the RHI
harvestersthat ittreatedts inhouse workers differentiypy some respectsr that the workers
may not have beesmware of CCLP’s existencéimable 20 F.3d at 441Hodgson v. Griffin &
Brand of McAllen, In¢.471 F.2d 235, 238 (5th Cir. 1973) (“The fact that appellant effected the
supervision by speaking to the crew leaders, who in turn spoke to the harvest workers, rather
than speaking directly to the harvest workers does not negate a degree aftappidejob-
control over the harvest workerk.™Joint employment relationships in agriculture often involve
this sort of indirect supervision.Fanette v. Steven Davis Farms, LIZ8 F. Supp. 3d 1243,

1259 (N.D. Fla. 2014). Indeed, as the Eleventh Circuit explainddtemor “the ‘suffer or
permit to work’ standard was developed in large part to assign responsibilirginess which
did notdirectly supervise the activities of putative employed&8”F.3d at 93435. The record

demonstrates that CCLP harvesting supervisors monitored the harvestaaktsaes each day
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and instructed RHI personnel to remedy any identified prohlample evidence that CCLP
acted as a joint employer

Moreover, it is undisputed that CCLP enforced its citrus canker procedures amd that i
reserved the right to halt the harvesters’ workaiay reason.CCLP representatives testifiuat
they did so as needed, whether due to weather, lapsed insurance, crew performance, or the
schedule of therocessing plants(See, e.9.2/19/14 Tr. (Shelton) at 120-21; 2/19/14 Tr.
(Berginc) atl69—-71.) Consistent with these facts, this fach@ighsheavilyin Plaintiffs’ favor.

C. Right to Hire, Fire, or Modify the Harvesters’
Employment Conditions

Next we evaluatéhe extent of CCLP’suthority to hire, fire, or modify the employment
conditions of the harvesterayton 686 F.3d at 117%Antenor 88 F.3d at 935Aimable 20
F.3d at 442. In considering this factahich is similar to the firstgourts look to whether the
putative employer determines hiring or firing decisions, the number of hours to balwperke
day, job qualifications, and the liké.ayton 686 F.3d at 117%ntenot 88 F.3d at 935;
Aimable 20 F.3d at 442.

Although CCLP required RHI to participate in the H-2A program, it did not demand that
RHI hire or fire specific individualsAs noted earliefRHI chose who to hire, how to hire, and
how many total employees to recru@CLP did not participte in any specifidecisions
concerningqualification,termination training or discipline of the harvestefs.

CCLP toldRHI when theharvestbeganpased largelpn the processing plant schedule

and fruit maturity. CCLP did not instrudPlaintiffs when to begin their day, take breaks, or

27 \We are not convinced that CCLP’s auditing of RHI's payroll or other documentatémtsaff

this analysis. CCLP checked documentation but did not conduct further investigation and, so fa
as we know, did not dematigat RHI take any action with respect to particular employees based
on its audits.
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finish for the day. On the other har@CLP allotted RHI a certain number of trailers it could fill
per day and did not allow it to fill more, thereby controlling the amount of work to be
accomplishedy the harvsters

On the wholeCCLP required contractors to obtain H-2A labor and assigned work at a
higher level, but it did not help make human resources decisions as to specific workars. As
result,we conclude that this factslightly favors CCLP’s position.

d. Power to Determine Pay Rates or Methods of Payment

This fourth factor asks whether the grower has the authority to set thetees\gayrate
or method of payent Antenor 88 F.3d at 93536, Aimable 20 F.3d at 442Tafalla, 2009 WL
151159at*7. “Methodof payment refers to the basis upon which a worker is paid, for example,
by the hour or by the piece Antenor 88 F.3d at 936Aimable 20 F.3d at 442Pay rate also
includes “benefits, such as worker's compensation insurafa®énor 88 F.3d at 936.

As discussed in detalil earlier, RElbnesetPlaintiffs’ pay method and pay rates. Ruiz
elected to pay the harvesters a pieste wage and set the final piece rate, which Ruiz provided
to Celaya. RHI also obtained its own workers’ compensation insurance. Although the contracts
with CCLP required RHI to hold such insurance, CCLP did not affect RHI's choice oYiagr
or pay RHIseparatelyor it. See, e.gAntenor 88 F.3d at 936This factor weigls solidly
against dinding of joint employmert.

e. Preparation of Payroll and Payment of Harvesters’ Wages

We nextconsiderthe extent of theutative employer’s involvement in the payroll
procedures and wage paymenfsitenor 88 F.3d at 936Aimable 20 F.3d at 442Tafalla, 2009
WL 151159, at *8.“This factor is probative of joint employmebécause of the likelihood that

when a business undertakes to help an independent contractor prepare its payroll and pay its
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wages, it is likely that the contractor lacks economic substance on which thesaaakesolely
depend.” Antenor 88 F.3d at 936.

CCLP owned the timekeeping equipment, created identification badges fartesters,
and scanned the workers in and out on a daily basis. CCLP provided daily reports to RHI
persomel summarizing the workers’ hours and emailed a weekly report to Celaya fasénar
preparing payroll.Importantly, pior to sending the weekly report to Celaya, CCLP unilaterally
deducted “up to one hour per workday . . . to account, in part, f@l tieme between the gaté a
the grove entrance and the actual picking site.” (Stip289.When she completed the weekly
payroll, Celaya returned a fildirectlyto CCLP with the gross and net earnings of each
harvester.lt is alsoundisputed that CCLP determined that the harvesters should be paid by
direct deposit for the 2008—2009 season.

RHI, with Celaya’s assistancejanagedts payroll andirectly paid the workers
Nonetheless, thevidenceshows that CCLP was intimately involved in payroll procedures and
decisions affectinglaintiffs and th& overall pay This factorunquestionably supporss
conclusion that CCLP was the harvesters’ joint employer.

f. Whether the Work Was Performed onCCLP Property

The next element is indicative of a joint employment relationship “for the obviagsme
that without the land, the worker might not have work, and because a business that owns or
controls the worksite will likely be able to prevent labor law violationsn e delegatesiring
and supervisory responsibilities to labor contractomtenor 88 F.3d at 938_ayton 686 F.3d
at1180.

There is no question that CCLP owns the groves where the harvesters labored. As such,

this factor favors findinghat CCLP wasthe harvestergbint employer.
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g. Whether the Harvesters’ Work Was Integral
to CCLP’s Business

Thisfactorasks whether the harvesting of the fruit completed by the workers waslinteg
to CCLP’s business. According to Eleventh Circuiimtenor this factor is relevant “because a
worker who performs a routine task that is a normal and integral phase of the grower’s
production is likely to be dependent on the grower’s overall production process.” 88 F.3d at 937
(finding this factor favored plaintiffs, who harvested and packed snap beayn 686 F.3d
at 118(Q see alscAimable 20 F.3d at 442 (finding this factor favored plaintiffs who “performed a
line-job integral to the harvesting and production of salakelgetables?)

The parties do not dispute that “harvesting [is] an integral part of CCLP iselsg30f
producing citrus fruit for processing into juice.” (Stip. No. 2; 2/12/14 Tr. (Lucas) afl2is
factor therefore supports Plaintiffs’ joint empéo theory.

h. Investment in Equipment and Facilities

Finally, we consider “the relative degree of investment in equipment and facilities by the
independent contractor on the one hand, and the putative employer on the Atitendr 88
F.3d at 937Layton 686 F.3d at 1181. This factor informs our inquiry because “workers are
more likely to be economically dependent on the person who supplies the equipment or the
facilities.” Layton 686 F.3d at 1181Antenor 88 F.3d at 93%&ee, e.g.Cruz-Lovo v. Ryder Sys.,
Inc., 298 F. Supp. 2d 1248, 1259 (11th Cir. 2003).

We conclude that the evidence pertinent to this factor favors CCLP’s position. RHI, not
CCLP, provided the guestworkers with housing, as well as transportation to and frgnovibe
RHI provided all of the equipment used Bhaintiffs personallyon a daily basispicking sacks,
ladders, and tubs. It provided the goats operated by the RHI crew leadersonatligjiRHI

was responsible for offering and maintaining the field sanitation equipment faotkers.
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Although CCLP owned the groves, the timekeeping equipment, and the equipment and
chemicals for the citrus canker protocol, the evidence demonstrat&thiatvested heavily in
the equipment necessary for its business as a labor contractosubstiantialevel of
investment makes sense as a practical matter, especially because RHI was friedéao wor
growers other than CCLP if it chose to do so. (2/20/14 Tr. (Bartos) aBe2guse RHI
provided the equipment necessaryRdaintiffs to complete their workhis factor weighs against
finding CCLP liable as a joint employer.

I. Balancing of All of the Factors

Having evaluated the factors individualye turn to wei) themcollectively and
qualitatively. At a superficial glance, the factors appear split between outcdroes.factors
favor finding in Plaintiffs’ favor, while four favor finding in CCLP’s favor.aking a closer
look, weseethat this split is deceiag.

The first and third factorsomewhasupport CCLP’s defense, but they are aksty
similar. Both focus on facts concerning CCLP’s lack of involvement in RHI's hiring and human
resourcepractices. The fourth factor (pay rates and methods) and the eighth factor (investment
in equipmentmoresoundly support CCLP’s position and evidence Plaintiffs’ economic
dependence on RHiather than CCLP.

Theremaining four factorshowever, unequivocallyeighin favor ofPlaintiffs’ joint
employer theory. The record supporting these factensonstrates th&tlaintiffs provided an
integral service for CCLP, by harvesting th&t grown onCCLP property. As Plaintiffs
completed the harvest, CCLP indirectiyt extensively supervised theom a daily basis.

CCLP wasalso directly involved in payrofiractices Not only did it own and operate the
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timekeeping equipment, it also unilaterally imposed the one-hour gate deductidoy there
affecing Plaintiffs’ pay.?®

Bearing in mind the totality of the circumstances on the full record befoveeugadily
conclude thaPlaintiffs were economically dependent@@LP. SeeAntenor 88 F.3d at 932
(instructing us to focus on “each employment relationghigs suchwe conclude that
Plaintiffs were jointly employed by both RHI a@CLP, within the meaning of the FLSA and
H-2A regulations.

2. Violations and Damages

Having foundthat CCLP was Plaintiffs’ joint employer, we briefly discuss its liability for

Paintiffs’ claims.
a. H-2A Contractual Violations

Plaintiffs alleged that they did not receive their wages “free and clear” st
personnel required them to kickback their build-up pay, resulting in wage ratdgithat
satisfy AEWR. The facts of this case, as we found earbggrwhelmingly substantiate
Plaintiffs’ theory?® Arriaga, 305 F.3d at 1235-36 (holding that FLSA requirements apply to H-
2A workers, including the requirement that all wages be provided “free amtia@aproper
deductions)see also Ramos-Barrientos v. Blagé1 F.3d 587, 59495 (11th Cir. 2011);
De LeonGranados v. Eller & Sons Trees, In681 F. Supp. 2d 1295, 1308 (N.D. Ga. 2008)
(noting that the FLSA is a remedial statute intended to “protect workers whsuticient
bargaining power to secure a subsistence wag'g.therefore find in favor of Plaintiffs, and

against CCLP, on the contractual2A-claims.

28 The legallity of that deduction has not yet been addressed. CCLP’s conductrig theki
deduction, however, igritical to our assessment of itsszolvement in RHI payroll procedures.
29 CCLP did not seriously dispute, at trial or in briefing, that the kickbacks resulted i
AEWR violations.
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We further intend to award Plaintiffs the full amount of damages sought foHH2&r
claims. We rely on Amento’s expert testimony, which we fartnablly credibleandvery helpful
for setting avalue for each guestworker-2A claim.

Because of the outstanding issues concerning both the FLSA and gate deduati®n clai
we need not enter final judgment on thA-claims at this timeWe will enterfinal judgment,
including damages totals, once we have resolved the outstanding issues.

b. FLSA Violations for Failure to Reimburse

As detailedearlier, CCLP has identified several valid concerns with Plaintiffs’ paeab
Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims. The parties shall submit their supplementafs,in the timing and
mannerdescribecearlier.

C. Gate Deduction ClaimsQuestion

As discussed in our February 4, 2014 opinion addressing CCLP’s motion in limine, we
will reopen discovery to allow the parties to complete their investigatiorPiatotiffs’ gate
deduction claims(Dkt. No.191) All discovery on this open question mbstcompletedyy
October31, 2015.

An evidentiary hearingddressing the gate deduction claimk be held on
Januaryll, 2016. Athe hearingwe will seta posttrial briefing schedulen the merits of the

gate deduction claims.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, we conclude that CCLP was Plaintiff€ngohbyer
and is liable to therfor AEWR violations. Final judgment shall issws a latedate

Plaintiffs shall file their supplemental brief the outstanding FLSA questions by
July 31, 2015. CCLP may file a response on or by August 31, 2015, and Plaintiffs may file a
reply on or by $ptembeil4, 2015.

In addition,the parties shall begin supplemental discovery into the gate deduction claims,
with discovery to close oncober31, 2015. An evidentiary heariog these claims
scheduled for January 11, 2016. On or by November 13, 264 patties shalhform the court
if they plan to presentwitnessest the evidentiary hearing ahdw long they anticipate the

hearingshouldlast.

SO ORDERED:
Wi £ cper

Marvin E. Aspen
United States District Judge

Dated:May 28, 2015
Chicago, lllinois
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